#### S204804

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUSAN J. PEABODY, Plaintiff and Petitioner

v.

TIME WARNER CABLE, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

Pursuant to Request to Decide Question of California Law Ninth Circuit No. 10-56846

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

VAN VLECK, TURNER & ZALLER, LLP BRIAN F. VAN VLECK (SBN 155250) 6310 SAN VICENTE BLVD., SUITE 430 LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90048 TELEPHONE: 323-592-3505

FACSIMILE: 323-592-3506

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN - 8 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER SUSAN J. PEABODY

Deputy

#### S204804

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUSAN J. PEABODY, Plaintiff and Petitioner

v.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

To be exempt from payment of mandatory overtime wages under the so-called "commissioned sales" exemption of Wage Order Section 3(D) an employee's earnings must "exceed one and one-half (1 1/2) times the minimum wage," or \$12.00 per hour. In most of Plaintiff-Petitioner's bi-weekly pay periods however she earned less than \$8.55 per hour worked. This affirmative exemption defense is therefore only available to Plaintiff's employer, Time Warner Cable ("TWC"), to the extent that it is permitted to reallocate commission wages earned in later pay periods toward the prior substandard pay periods. Reallocating and averaging wages in this manner is also the only means by which TWC may avoid liability for non-payment of the base minimum wage of \$8.00 per hour in all pay periods.

Under well-established principles of California wage law, however, an employee's seven-day workweek and bi-weekly pay period are the time periods over which these minimum compensation thresholds must be earned and paid, respectively. This creates a bright-line rule which may be easily assessed based on the statutorily required pay statements applicable to each individual pay period. Requiring compliance in each workweek and pay period is also consistent with the remedial goal of ensuring consistent, subsistence-level wage payments to employees. It is also consistent with the reporting provisions of the Labor Code which are calculated to allow employees, courts, and enforcement agencies to easily assess whether minimum labor standards have been satisfied in each pay period.

By contrast, assessing compliance according to an employer's after-the-fact allocation of earnings to prior pay periods is contrary to California law. This proposed rule would contravene the fundamental purpose of these remedial provisions by subjecting employees to uncertainty and the risk of extended periods of subminimum compensation. In addition, wage allocation would confuse the calculation of minimum wages by embroiling the parties in endless disputes over amorphous accrual accounting issues that would render the provisions impractical to enforce.

It is in this context that the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, has certified the question: "May an employer, consistent with California's compensation requirements, allocate an employee's commission payments to the pay periods for which they were earned?" As it applies to the claims at issue in this case, the answer must be "No."

#### II. QUESTION PRESENTED

In the context of compliance with the minimum wage thresholds established by Wage Order 4-2001, Sections 3(D) and 4(C): "May an employer, consistent with California's compensation requirements, allocate an employee's commission payments to the pay periods for which they were earned?"

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

Plaintiff was employed by "Time Warner Cable" (TWC) as an Account Executive between July 15, 2008 and May 15, 2009. Plaintiff was a commissioned salesperson who was responsible for selling advertising time on TWC's various cable channels. (Excerpts of Record ("ER") at 121:3-5.)

As a condition of her employment Plaintiff was required to agree to TWC's standard commission policy, which she executed on July 15, 2008. Under this agreement, commissions would be guaranteed for the first three months of her employment and would thereafter be based on the amount of her "monthly billings" according to a stated commission schedule. (ER, 121:19-24.)

In addition to these periodic commission payments, Plaintiff received base pay calculated as \$9.61 per hour for 40 hours per week. Plaintiff was not paid additional wages for hours worked in excess of eight per day or 40 per week. (ER, 122:15-25.) Plaintiff was paid just \$769.23 in the majority of her bi-weekly pay periods and worked at least 45 hours per workweek. (ER, 118:8-22; 170). During weeks in which Plaintiff worked more than 48 hours and received only her weekly base pay, her hourly compensation for the week was below \$8.00 per hour.

Although Plaintiff regularly worked more than eight hours per day and 40 hours per week she was never paid premium overtime pay under Labor Code §510. (ER, 122:21-25.) As an affirmative defense to this claim, TWC alleged that Plaintiff was

exempt from overtime throughout her employment under Section 3(D) of the applicable Wage Order. Based on the current California minimum wage of \$8.00 per hour, Section 3(D) thus mandates an enhanced minimum wage rate of \$12.00 per hour. Plaintiff contended below that her overtime claim was not barred by the exemption because TWC had failed to pay her sufficient wages to claim the exemption in the majority of workweeks and pay periods.

Plaintiff received biweekly pay statements generated by TWC. However, these did not set forth her hours of work.

#### B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On July 31, 2009, Plaintiff Susan J. Peabody filed a Class Action Complaint in the Los Angeles Superior Court, captioned as Susan J. Peabody v. Time Warner, Inc. and Does 1-100, inclusive, Case No. BC418972 (the "Complaint").

Plaintiff's Complaint was filed on behalf of a putative class of similarly situated current and former employees of TWC who had held the position of "Account Executive." The Complaint alleges five causes of action for: (1) failure to pay earned commissions; (2) failure to pay minimum wage for all hours worked pursuant to the applicable Wage Order and Labor Code § 1194(a); (3) failure to pay earned overtime

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Labor Code § 1182.12 provides that "on or after January 1, 2008, the minimum wage for all industries shall be not less than eight dollars (\$8.00) per hour."

wages under Labor Code § 510; (4) failure to timely pay wages under Labor Code §§ 201-201; (5) failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements under Labor Code §226(a).2

On September 4, 2009, Defendant TWC removed the action to federal court under the under the Class Action Fairness ("CAFA"), 28 U.S.C. §1331(d). The case was initially assigned to Hon. Dean D. Pregerson but was transferred to Hon. Andrew J. Guillford.<sup>3</sup>

Defendant TWC stipulated to decide its dispositive motion for summary judgment prior to determination of class certification,<sup>4</sup> and filed its motion on July 19, 2010. The hearing was held on November 1, 2010 and the Court granted TWC's motion in its entirety by order of that same date. Final judgment was entered on November 9, 2010 and Plaintiff timely filed notice of the present appeal on November 29, 2010.

The matter was argued and submitted to the Ninth Circuit on July 11, 2012. By order of August 17, 2012 (Docket 32-1), the Ninth Circuit upheld the grant of summary judgment as to Plaintiff's claim for unpaid commissions on the following grounds:

Under California law, "contractual terms must be met before an employee is entitled to a commission." *Steinhebel v. Los Angeles Times Commc'n*, 126 Cal.App. 4th 696, 705 (2005). Here, Peabody admitted that under the terms of her contract, she was not entitled to any commissions until the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Complaint, Clerk's Transcript ("CT") at Docket #1, Exhibit A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CT at Docket #15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CT, Docket #23.

advertising aired, regardless of when the customer paid. Therefore, TWC was entitled to pay Peabody under the new commission rate for advertising that aired after the rate changed, and Peabody's argument that TWC retroactively reduced her compensation is unavailing. There is also no evidence that TWC changed the commission rate in bad faith.<sup>5</sup>

The Ninth Circuit observed, however, that the remaining issues would be resolved by the answer to the certified question of California law being referred to this Court.<sup>6</sup>

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

California law mandates that minimum wage thresholds must be earned in each applicable workweek and must be paid in the next applicable pay period. California Labor Code section 204 mandates the use of a bi-weekly pay period. Sections 221-223 also prohibit employers from deducting wages from one pay period and reallocating them toward another. Commission wages are not exempted from these requirements. To the contrary, commissions are specifically identified as just another form of "wages" to which the protections of the Labor Code apply with full force.

The net result is that employers cannot, consistent with California law, allocate commission wages paid in one pay period to satisfy minimum obligations which were due in another, earlier pay period. This conclusion is supported by the plain language of the minimum wage thresholds contained in Sections 3(D) and 4(B) of the Wage Order. It

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Memorandum of Disposition, Ninth Circuit Docket #32-1, at p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Memorandum of Disposition, Ninth Circuit Docket #32-1, at p. 2-3.

is also consistent with the avowed remedial purpose of the provisions and with the DLSE's own administrative interpretation.

The federal Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") is substantially less protective and has no provisions analogous to Labor Code sections 204, 221-223. Thus, it provides no support for wage averaging or allocation of commissions under California law.

Nevertheless, the result in this case would still be the same under the FLSA, which also requires that applicable minimum wage requirements must be earned in each workweek and paid out at each established pay period utilized by the employer. Where, as in this case, there is no dispute that a bi-weekly pay period was utilized, FLSA authorities do not permit the allocation of commissions from above-minimum pay period to belowminimum pay periods.

This Court should clarify that California law requires the minimum wage thresholds set forth in Wage Order Section 3(D) and 4(B) must be satisfied within each workweek and pay period, rather than by allocating commissions from other pay periods.

#### V. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

- A. California Law Does Not Permit Employers To Average or Allocate

  Wages Earned in Separate Pay Periods To Achieve Compliance With

  Minimum Wage Thresholds
  - 1. The California Labor Code and Wage Orders Require Timely and

    Consistent Compliance With Minimum Labor Standards.

The California Labor Code and Wage Orders represent a coherent scheme which establishes minimum rates of straight time and overtime compensation, protects wages earned from any source from deductions and offsets, and requires that all such earned wages must be paid promptly and regularly.

For example, Labor Code Section 204(a) requires that "All wages . . . earned by any person in any employment are due and payable twice during each calendar month, on days designated in advance as regular paydays." Labor Code Section 212 prohibits an employer from paying earned wages in any form other than an immediately negotiable paycheck. And Sections 221-223 prohibit employers from deducting from amounts due in future pay periods in order to satisfy current minimum wage or overtime payments.<sup>7</sup>

This body of law articulates "a clear public policy that is specifically directed at the enforcement of California's minimum wage and overtime laws for the benefit of workers." Moreover, "Because of the economic position of the average worker and, in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> DLSE Man. ¶50.6.1, sections 1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id*.

particular, his family, it is essential to the public welfare that he receive his pay' promptly." <sup>9</sup> Thus, "Public policy has long favored the full and prompt payment of wages due an employee." <sup>10</sup>

Thus the remedial wage protections afforded by this integrated statutory scheme "are to be liberally construed with an eye to promoting such protection" while any purported exemptions are to be narrowly construed.<sup>11</sup>

# 2. The FLSA Provides No Support For Retroactively Reallocating Commission Wages Between Workweeks and Pay Periods.

The FLSA and its implementing regulations have no application to the calculation of the applicable minimum wage rate of an employee under California law. As the Court explained in *Armenta v. Osmose, Inc.* "A review of our labor statutes reveals a clear legislative intent to protect the minimum wage rights of California employees to a greater extent than federally." <sup>12</sup> In particular, "[f]ederal law provides no analogous provisions to sections 221-223," which prohibit the very reallocation advocated by TWC. <sup>13</sup> Section 221 provides that "It shall be unlawful for any employer to collect or receive from an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Gould v. Maryland Sound Industries, Inc., 31 Cal.App.4th 1137, 1147 (1995) (quoting authority (internal citations and punctuation omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Company, Inc., 20 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 785, 794 (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> *Armenta*, *supra*, at 323, 324.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *Armenta, supra,* at 323, 324.

employee any part of wages theretofore paid by said employer to said employee."

Section 223 provides that "Where any statute or contract requires an employer to maintain the designated wage scale, it shall be unlawful to secretly pay a lower wage while purporting to pay the wage designated by statute or by contract."

14

TWC would have California adopt certain federal regulations pertaining to wage averaging under the FLSA and incorporate them into the Labor Code and Wage Orders. However, the Legislature and IWC know how to incorporate select federal regulations when doing so is consistent with the purpose of California law. The Legislature's conscious decision not to incorporate federal regulations elected not to do so in connection with the averaging or allocation of commission wages.

In any event, fundamental differences between state and federal law preclude the application of these federal authorities in this case, however. To begin with, Section 7(i) of the FLSA is restricted to "retail or service establishments." This definition excludes inter alia "Advertising agencies," "Broadcasting companies," and "Telegraph and cable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> "[S]ection 223 was enacted to address the problem of employers taking secret deductions or 'kickbacks' from their employees. [Citations.]" *Amaral v. Cintas Corp. No.* 2, 163 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1157, 1205 (2008). A violation occurs where the employer pays the wage required by a statute or contract but secretly deducts or reallocates a portion of the wage toward some other purpose which amounts to requiring the employee to pay back a portion of the wages otherwise earned for a particular time period. As explained in *Cintas*, the underpayment of wages is generally a secret being kept from "applicable enforcement authorities," not from the employees. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See e.g., Wage Order 4-2001, Section 1(A)(1)(e) ("The activities constituting exempt work . . . shall be construed in the same manner such terms are construed in the following regulations under the Fair Labor Standards Act . . .")

companies."<sup>16</sup> TWC presented no evidence establishing that it meets the narrow "retail concept" necessary to qualify for the exemption. (ER, 106:7-11.)

But most significantly, unlike the Labor Code, "the FLSA does not require that an employer utilize a pay period of any specific duration." Thus, in the rare circumstance when no regular pay period has been established by the parties, a District Court is permitted under the FLSA to supply its own "reasonable and equitable" method for determining the appropriate time period over which to allocate commission income. <sup>18</sup>

By contrast, such gap-filling judicial discretion cannot apply where, as here: (i) a two-week pay period is already mandated by statute<sup>19</sup>; (ii) there is no dispute that the parties actually utilized such a two-week pay period; and (iii) TWC adamantly denies that any commission wages were actually "earned" during the sub-minimum pay periods.

In any event, even if the FLSA were applicable by analogy, it would still lend no support to any scheme to allocate commissions across workweeks. For example, in the 2005 Maryland District case of *Rogers v. Savings First Mortgage*, the court held that under the FLSA "a commission payment can only be allocated over the semi-monthly pay period in which it is received." As the Court explained:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See 29 CFR § 779.317 (providing "a partial list of establishments to which the retail concept does not apply.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Rogers v. Savings First Mortgage, LLC, 362 F.Supp 2d 624 (2005)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See 29 C.F.R. § 778.119 and 778.120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Labor Code § 204.

The FLSA takes as its standard a single workweek consisting of seven consecutive days. While there is no requirement that compensation be paid weekly, the minimum wage provisions of the FLSA apply on a workweek basis. Thus, in order to meet the requirements of the FLSA's minimum wage provisions, an employee compensated wholly or in part on a commission basis must be paid an amount not less than the statutory minimum wage for all hours worked in each workweek without regard to his sales productivity. Furthermore, this amount must be paid to him free and clear (i.e. finally and unconditionally) on the payday for that week. 20

Applying these fundamental FLSA principles the Court rejected the argument that a loan broker employer could "stretch the allocation of commissions over the average period of time that Defendants contend it takes to process a loan."<sup>21</sup>

While Defendants are correct that the FLSA does not require that an employer utilize a pay period of any specific duration... the cases are clear that, once a pay period is established, it cannot be retroactively modified to escape FLSA liability.<sup>22</sup>

In Marshall v. Sam Dell's Dodge Corp., the court addressed a pay plan in which sales employees received a fixed weekly base pay plus commissions. In those weeks in which they received only the base pay and worked a large number of hours this resulted in a sub-minimum wage rate.<sup>23</sup> As here, the defendant argued for a rule that "if total

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Rogers v. Savings First Mortgage, LLC, 362 F.Supp.2d 624, 631 (D.Md. 2005) (internal punctuation and citations omitted.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Rogers, supra, at 630.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Rogers, supra, at 631 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Marshall v. Sam Dell's Dodge Corp., 451 F.Supp. 294, 301 (ND N.Y. 1978).

payments in any month exceed the minimum wage for the hours worked during that entire month, they be found in compliance with the Act, even though payments below the minimum were made in any of the weeks of that month."<sup>24</sup> The Court rejected this proposal as contrary to the requirement that wage allocation across multiple established pay periods is contrary to the FLSA. In other words, "Having established the week as the applicable pay period, defendants cannot now argue that any other time period measures compliance with the Act." <sup>25</sup>

Thus, nothing in the FLSA would authorize the allocation of commissions between one pay period and another in this case. Moreover, California law (unlike the FLSA) affirmatively requires the use of a bi-weekly pay period, and this is the pay period which was utilized in fact by TWC. As a matter of law, therefore, TWC cannot be permitted to average or allocate commissions from one pay period to another in order to achieve compliance with California minimum wage thresholds.

# 3. California Employers Cannot Count Prospective Commissions As "Wages" Until They Are Earned and Paid

Labor Code Section 200 defines "wages" as "all amounts for labor performed by employees ... whether the amount is fixed or ascertained by the standard of time, task, piece, commission basis, or other method of calculation." "Commission wages are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Marshall, supra, 451 F.Supp. at 301.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Marshall, supra, 451 F.Supp. at 302.

compensation paid to any person for services rendered in the sale of such employer's property or services and based proportionately upon the amount or value thereof."<sup>26</sup>

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