S204804 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUSAN J. PEABODY, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

TIME WARNER CABLE INC., Defendant and Respondent.

Pursuant to Request to Decide Question of California Law Ninth Circuit No. 10-56846

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT

TIME WARNER CABLE INC.

WARGO & FRENCH LLP J. SCOTT CARR (SBN 136706) 999 PEACHTREE STREET, NE, 26TH FLOOR ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30309 TELEPHONE: 404-853-1500 FACSIMILE: 404-853-1501

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT TIME WARNER CABLE INC.

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 1 5 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative: employers are permitted to allocate an employee's commission

payments to the periods over which they were earned. This is the only logically and legally sound answer. Logically, any other result would render significant commission earnings irrelevant, especially in situations like the instant case, where the employee earned the lion's share of her income in the form of monthly commissions. Highly-compensated employees should not be permitted to manufacture minimum wage and overtime claims by simply ignoring a major component of their compensation.

Legally, the affirmative answer is required because both California and federal law not only permit, but <u>require</u> employers to allocate commissions over the period for which they were <u>earned</u>, not just the pay period in which they received the commission check. That is, when determining the appropriate "regular rate" of pay for purposes of calculating overtime compensation, employers are <u>required</u> to allocate commissions over the entire period in which they were earned.

Likewise, allocating commissions over the month in which they were earned is consistent with the DLSE's longstanding approval of commission plans that establish monthly (or even longer) pay periods for commissions. Obviously, the DLSE would not approve of monthly pay periods for commissions while at the same time silently prohibiting employers from applying those commissions to the month over which they were earned.

Finally, allocating commissions across the period for which they were earned is also consistent with federal authority, which California courts follow when interpreting parallel state labor law. This principle is especially applicable in this case, as the DLSE has expressly instructed that Section 3(D) of Wage Order 4-2001 -- the "commissions-paid" exemption at issue here -- should be interpreted and applied consistent with the federal law interpreting 29 U.S.C. 207(i), the federal counterpart to Section 3(D). Federal law regarding Section 207(i) establishes the common sense approach of allocating commission earnings to the weeks for which they were earned, which is exactly what TWE did here. That is, TWE simply allocated the monthly commissions to the four or five week period of the broadcast month over which they were earned. As shown above, using this analysis it is undisputed that Peabody's earnings more than satisfied the 1.5 times minimum wage component of the commissions-paid exemption at all relevant times.

Finally, the Ninth Circuit asked for guidance on a narrow issue

-- the allocation of commissions. The Ninth Circuit did not ask for guidance or certify any question regarding Peabody's wage statement or "waiting time" claims, nor did this Court purport to accept any questions regarding those claims. Accordingly, the Court should not consider Peabody's improperly asserted arguments regarding her wage statement or waiting time claims.

ARGUMENT

I. ALLOCATION OF PEABODY'S COMMISSION EARNINGS TO THE MONTHLY PERIOD OVER WHICH THEY WERE EARNED IS CONSISTENT WITH CALIFORNIA LAW

Throughout this entire case, in the District Court, in the Ninth Circuit and now in this Court, Peabody has ignored her significant commission earnings to make her arguments. Specifically, Peabody tries to fabricate minimum wage and overtime claims by arguing that her commission earnings only count for the pay period <u>in</u> which the commissions were paid rather than the time periods <u>for</u> which the commissions were paid and over which they were earned. Notably, and not surprisingly, Peabody cannot cite any authority that actually supports her position. Instead, Peabody relies on tortured analogies and hypothetical scenarios that ignore the key fact before the Court – her own substantial commissions. Moreover, as shown below,

Peabody ignores the numerous authorities and principles confirming that commissions must be allocated to the period for which they were earned, as TWE did here. Accordingly, all of Peabody's arguments are unavailing.

A. Allocation of Commissions Over the Period in Which They Were Earned Is Required by State and Federal Overtime Laws

Under both California and federal law, an employer is not only permitted, but <u>required</u> to allocate commissions over the period they were earned to calculate an employee's "regular rate of pay" for purposes of computing and paying overtime compensation. DLSE Manual at 49.1.1, 49.2.1.1, 49.2.1.2; 29 C.F.R. §§ 778.117, 778.119. Specifically, when calculating the regular rate of pay for overtime purposes where commissions are involved, federal law requires that the employer "apportion back" the commission "over the workweeks of the period during which it was earned." 29 C.F.R. § 778.119.⁴ The

⁴ The DLSE's construction of California law as requiring that employers allocate commissions across the period in which they were earned, in accordance with federal law, is hardly surprising. Indeed, California law cannot be construed otherwise, as requiring an employer to allocate commissions over a different period would conflict with federal law and would therefore be preempted. *See Olszewski v. Scripps Health*,, 30 Cal. 4th 798, 822 (2003) (holding state Medicaid lien provisions preempted where conflict with federal Medicare laws).

DLSE also instructs that California law follows federal law when computing the regular rate. DLSE Manual at 49.1.1, 49.1.2, 49.1.2.1, 49.1.2.2, 49.1.2.4. Thus, the DLSE Manual provides that, under California law, "the regular bonus rate is found by dividing the bonus by the total hours worked during the *period* to which the bonus applies." DLSE Manual at 49.2.4 (emphasis added); *see also Marin v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 169 Cal. App. 4th 804, 808 (2009) (approving bonus plan where bonus payment included in regular rate calculation). Accordingly, both federal and California law **mandate** that employers allocate commissions across the pay for which they were earned, as TWE did here.

This same commission allocation rule necessarily applies when considering whether an employee received the minimum wage or fell within the commissions-paid exemption. Indeed, to require a different allocation of commissions in these contexts would be illogical, unworkable and produce absurd results. That is, according to Peabody's proposed rule, to determine whether she was eligible for overtime TWE would not be permitted to allocate commissions to the month over which they were <u>earned</u>, but would instead only be able to consider those commissions for the bi-weekly pay period in which

they were actually paid. Assuming, as Peabody does, that this would eliminate the exemption in any bi-weekly pay period where commissions were not actually paid (although they were earned during that period), then she would be owed overtime for that period. In calculating the overtime owed, however, federal and California law would require TWE to determine the "regular rate of pay" by going back and allocating the commissions across the entire month in which they were earned -- including the pay period for which TWE was not permitted to consider the earned commissions for purposes of determining eligibility for the commissions-paid exemption. Of course, as noted above, once the commissions are properly allocated across the period for which they were earned (as they must be), Peabody qualifies for the exemption.

Accordingly, there is no question that employers are not only permitted to allocate commissions to the period over which they were earned, they are required to do so. Therefore, the certified question must be answered in the affirmative.

B. Allocation of Commissions Across the Period in Which They Were Earned Is Consistent With California Law Permitting Monthly Pay Periods for Commissions

Allocation of commissions to the period over which they were earned is also consistent with the DLSE's guidance providing that commissions may be paid on a monthly basis. California does not mandate the payment of commissions on any particular timetable, but rather when they are reasonably calculable and as specified in the parties' commission agreement. DLSE Manual 5.2.5. Indeed, for over 20 years the DLSE has approved the payment of commissions on a monthly basis where, as here, a compensation plan provides for such monthly payments. That is, the DLSE has specifically approved compensation plans where a commission plan (such as the one Peabody agreed to here) "calls for the commissions to be calculated once a month or less often. . . ." DLSE Op. Ltr. 1993.03.08.⁵ In fact, the DLSE recognizes that "commission programs which calculate the amount owed once a month (or less often) are common." DLSE Op.

⁵ DLSE opinions "may be properly considered" by the courts. *Areso* v. *CarMax*, *Inc.*, 195 Cal. App. 4th 996, 1007, 124 Cal. Rptr. 4th 996 (2011) quoting *United Parcel Serv. Wage and Hour Cases*, 190 Cal. App. 4th 1001, 1011, 118 Cal. Rptr. 3d 834 (2010). In fact, as noted above, Peabody has argued that the DLSE's guidance should receive special deference where, as here, the analysis involves the provisions of a Wage Order. (Petitioner's Brief at 27-28.)

Ltr. 2002.12.09-2. Notably, controlling case law is consistent with the principles announced by the DLSE that the terms of a compensation plan control the timing of an employer's payment of commissions. *Schacter v. CitiGroup, Inc.*, 47 Cal. 4th 610, 622 (2009); *see also Nein v. HostPro, Inc.*, 175 Cal. App. 4th 833, 850 (2009); *Beckman v. Umpqua Banking*, No. S-06-1205 RRB, 2007 WL 2418686, *2-3 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 24, 2007) (see Attachment A). Thus, there is no question that it was proper for TWE to establish, via agreement with Peabody, a monthly pay period for commissions, based on the broadcast month.

Certainly, the DLSE would not affirmatively authorize commissions to be paid monthly (instead of bi-weekly), while at the same time silently prohibiting the allocation of commissions payments across the very same monthly pay period for which they were earned. Indeed, it is clear that the DLSE contemplates that commissions will be allocated to the period over which they were earned because the DLSE has directed that the commissions-paid exemption be applied consistent with federal law, which permits such allocation, as discussed below.

- C. Allocating Peabody's Commissions To The Weeks Over Which They Were Earned Is Consistent With The 7(i) Exemption On Which The Section 3(D) Commissions-Paid Exemption Is Based
 - 1. In Applying Section 3(D), California Relies on Authorities and Regulations Regarding the Federal 7(i) Exemption

Long ago, this Court instructed that federal law should guide the interpretation and application of parallel California labor legislation. That is, this Court frequently refers to "federal precedent in interpreting parallel language in state labor legislation." *Fire Fighters Union v. City of Vallejo*, 12 Cal. 3d 608, 616, 116 Cal. Rptr. 507 (1974); *Building Material & Constr. Teamsters' Union v. Farrell*, 41 Cal. 3d 651, 658, 224 Cal. Rptr. 688, 692 (1986) ("Federal decisions have frequently guided our interpretation of state labor legislation the language of which parallels that of federal statutes"). In keeping with this principle, California courts rely on federal authority when interpreting similar California wage and hour statutes and wage orders. 6

⁶ For example, in *Advanced Tech Sec. Services, Inc. v. Superior Court*, 163 Cal. App. 4th 700, 707-08, 77 Cal. Rptr. 3d 757, 762-63 (2008), the court, relying on *Fire Fighters Union*, applied the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") and its supporting regulations to find that the employer had not violated California Labor Code Section 510. Similarly, in *Monzon v. Schaefer Ambulance Service, Inc.*, 224 Cal.

This principle holds especially true with respect to the interpretation and application of the Section 3(D) commissions-paid exemption at issue here. Indeed, the DLSE expressly contemplates that, in applying this exemption, courts will be guided by federal law interpreting Section 7(i):

To the extent not inconsistent with California overtime law and policies, California in applying the provisions of Subsection 3(D) of Order 4-2001 and 7-2001, has adhered to the federal government's interpretation of the provisions of 29 U.S.C. § 207(i). (See also, Hermann v. Suwanee Swifty Stores, Inc., 19 F. Supp. 2d 1365 (N.D. Ga. 1998).

DLSE Manual 50.6.2 (emphasis added).⁷ The DLSE's instruction to look to federal law when applying the commissions-paid exemption makes perfect sense because the Section 3(D) commissions-paid exemption parallels the federal commissions-paid exemption found at 29 U.S.C. § 207(i). In fact, California's Section 3(D) exemption is

App. 3d 16, 31, 38-42, 273 Cal. Rptr. 615, 622-23, 628-31 (1990), the court applied the FLSA, federal regulations and federal case law to interpret a California wage order "closely modeled after" the FLSA.

While that section goes on to state that "the definition of commissions adopted by the U. S. Department of Labor and the definition of that term in California differ" and that the CFR is therefore not instructive on the issue of "what constitutes commissions," there is no dispute here over the definition of "commissions." That is, both parties agree that Peabody received commissions as defined by California law.

even broader than the parallel federal exemption because -- unlike the federal 7(i) exemption -- Section 3(D) is not limited to retail establishments. Thus, not surprisingly, the California Court of Appeal recently cited federal law in applying the commissions-paid exemption to affirm the dismissal of an employee's state law overtime claim. *Muldrow v. Surrex Solutions Corp.*, 208 Cal. App. 4th 1381, 1396 (2012).

2. The Law Regarding the 7(i) Exemption Confirms that Employers May Allocate Commissions Across the Period for Which They Were Earned

Application of on point federal law regarding the 7(i) exemption mandates an affirmative answer to the certified question and establishes the common-sense approach of allocating commissions to the period over which they were earned. In fact, 29 C.F.R. §778.120 specifically addresses and resolves the issue, as it provides:

For a commission computation period of a specific number of workweeks, such as every 4 weeks (as distinguished from every month) divide the total amount of commission by the number of weeks for which it represents additional compensation to get the amount of commission **allocable** to each week.

29 C.F.R. § 778.120(a)(1) (emphasis added).

Here, because the commissions paid to Peabody were paid on a "commission computation period of a specific number of workweeks" (the 4 or 5 weeks of the broadcast month), 29 C.F.R. § 778.120 provides the precise guidance needed to answer the certified question in the affirmative. Other federal courts have taken similar approaches and have consistently held that commission payments should be allocated over the pay periods in which the commissions were earned. See Schwind v. EW & Associates, Inc., 371 F. Supp. 2d 560, 567-68 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (applying 29 C.F.R. § 778.120 and holding that employee was exempt from overtime provisions of FLSA under commissions-paid exemption based on allocation of commissions); Cantu-Thacker v. Rover Oaks, Inc., Civil Action No. H-08-2109, 2009 WL 1883967, * 3 (S.D. Tex. June 30, 2009) (see Attachment B) (granting summary judgment to employer on federal commissionspaid exemption because plaintiff would have had to have worked 91 hours per week to not make 1.5 times minimum wage); Ealy-Simon v. Liberty Med. Supply, Inc., No. 05-14059-CIV, 2007 WL 1521628, *4 (S.D. Fla. May 23, 2007) (analyzing satisfaction of one and one-half times minimum wage element of 7(i) exemption on quarterly basis) (see Attachment C); see also Nascembeni v. Quayside Place Partners, *LLP*, No. 09-23322, 2010 WL 2351467 (S.D. Fla. June 11, 2010) (employee exempt form overtime where employee's base rate plus commission were regularly more than one and one-half times minimum wage rate)..

In short, there is no question that when analyzing the Section 3(D) commissions-paid exemption, California courts should look to federal law interpreting and applying the 7(i) commissions-paid exemption. That analysis unquestionably permits an employer to allocate commissions over the period for which they were earned, as TWE did here, and thus requires an affirmative answer to the certified question.

3. Peabody Ignores the DLSE's Instruction To Apply the Section 3(D) Exemption In Accordance with the Federal 7(i) Exemption

In contrast to the above authority, Peabody has failed to cite a single federal or California case that prohibits allocation of commissions across the period in which they were earned when

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